
foaYSh wdodhï fomd¾;fïka;=j - YS% ,xldj
cs;ehl;L ,iwtupj; jpizf;fsk; - ,yq;if

INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT - SRI LANKA



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT i

EXPENDITURE HEAD NO. 246
(in compliance to the Section 2.4 of the Public 
Finance Circular No. 402 dated 12th September, 2002)

D. R. S. Hapuarachchi
Commissioner General of Inland Revenue

INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT

ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE 

REPORT
2022



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENTii

ii 
 

 

Principal Officials 

 

Mr. D. R. S. Hapuarachchi Commissioner General of Inland Revenue 

Deputy Commissioners General 
 
Mr. M. L. Mohamed Thahir Tax Administration - UCU (4,7,8,9), Information 

Mr. K. D. M. N. Gunathunga Tax Administration - LTU, Revenue Monitoring, 

Refund, Investigation & Intelligence  

Mr. S. S. D. Weerasekara Customer Service & Promotion, CDMU 

Mr. T. Rajapakse Appeal, Objection, Debt Management, Legacy & 
DTRU, Legal Affairs 

Mr. M. S. M. Siyaan Tax Administration - UCU (1,2,3,5,6), Source Tax 

Administration, SVAT Duties 

Mr. R. A. N. Rajapakse  Human Capital, Human Resource & Assets 

Administration 

Mr. M. Gunaweera  Tax Policy, Legislation, Rulings & International 

Affairs 

Mr. D. U. A.  Jayawardhana  Tax Administration - LTU, ITAS & Payment 

Controlling & CPU 

Mrs. W. A. S.  Chandrasekara  Medium Corporate, Medium & Small Entities 

(Corporate & Non-Corporate Sector), Regional 

Offices & Risk Management 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT iii

iii 
 

Senior Commissioners 
 

Mr. N. M. Mohamed Mifly Tax Policy, International Affairs and Secretariat 

Mr. S. M. Abeykoon Bandara  Medium Corporate (1-8) & Risk Management 

Mrs. L. M. C. Weerakoon  Customer Supporting & Promotion  

Mrs. R. K. C. Chithralatha  Investigation  

Mr. T. M. J. N. Bandara  Upper Corporate (4 ,7), Transfer Pricing, 
Research and International Units 

Mrs. H. W. N. K. Thalaramba  Large Taxpayers Unit 

Mr. M. P. S. Abeyrathna Upper Corporate Units (3, 6) 

Mr. M. Ganesharajah  Upper Corporate Units (1,2,5) 

Mrs. R. P. H. Fernando  Appeal and Objection (LTU, UCU, MCU & RO) 

Mr. B. K. S. Santha  Independent Internal Functions Controlling & 
Intelligence 

Mr. M. D. Anandasiri  Information Technology Administration Service 
& Payments Controlling & Tax Operation 
Support 

Mrs. S. P. Ranasinghe  Information & Interface Agencies & Special Task 

Mrs. J. A. D. D. W. K. Siriwardena  Customer Registration and Update Unit 

Mr. U. D. N. Jayaweera  Zone I, II and III 

Mrs. J. D. Ranasinghe  Legacy & DTRU, All Legal Affairs & Default 
Collection (LTU, UCU, MCU & RO) 

Dr. (Mrs.) N. T. A. Dissanayake  Large Taxpayers Unit (4,5, 6) 

Mr. D. M. N. S. B. Dissanayake  WHT, PAYE, Stamp Duty, SVAT, Betting & 
Gaming  

Mrs. V. K. A. Thusithanjalee  Upper Corporate (8, 9) 

Mr. T. U. Athukorala  Procurement & Assets Management  

Mr. U. L. U. K. Perera  Large Taxpayers Unit (2, 3), Large Tax 
Administration, UCU & MCU Refund Units 

Mr. W. M. R. Bandara  Human Resource Management 

Mr. W. S. Thilakarathne  Human Resource Development and Change 

Management 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENTiv

iv 
 

Table of Contents 
List of Tables                                                    vi 

List of Figures                                                       vii 

Abbreviations                                                   viii 

CHAPTER 1 INSTITUTIONAL PROFILE 1 
1.1 INTRODUCTION 3 
1.2 VISION, MISSION AND STRATEGIC GOALS 4 
1.3 KEY FUNCTIONS OF THE IRD 5 
1.4 MAIN DIVISIONS OF THE IRD 5 
1.5 ORGANIZATION CHART 6 

CHAPTER 2 PROGRESS AND THE FUTURE OUTLOOK 7 
2.1 SPECIAL ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE IRD IN THE YEAR 2022 9 

2.1.1 TAXES ADMINISTERED BY IRD DURING THE YEAR 9 

2.1.2 TOTAL REVENUE COLLECTION 10 

2.1.3 CONTRIBUTION OF THE INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT TO THE GOVERNMENT 
REVENUE 12 

2.1.4 TRANSFER THE REVENUE OF STAMP DUTY AND NATION BUILDING TAX TO THE 
PROVINCIAL COUNCILS 13 

2.1.5 INCOME TAX COLLECTION 14 

2.1.6 VALUE ADDED TAX COLLECTION 15 

2.1.7 AUDITS 17 

2.1.8 APPEALS 18 

2.1.9 DETAILS OF TAXPAYER REGISTRATION 18 

2.1.10 PRODUCTIVITY RATIO 19 

2.1.11 AWARENESS PROGRAMS FOR TAXPAYERS AND TAX PROFESSIONALS 21 

2.1.12 RETURN COMPLIANCE 23 

2.1.13 TAXES IN DEFAULT 24 

2.1.14 MAIN POLICY CHANGES RELATING TO VALUE ADDED TAX IN THE YEAR 2022 25 

2.1.15 IMPLEMENTATION OF SURCHARGE TAX ACT, NO.14 OF 2022 26 

2.1.16 IMPLEMENTATION OF SOCIAL SECURITY CONTRIBUTION LEVY ACT, NO. 25 OF 2022 27 

2.1.17 ISSUING LICENSE FOR CASINO GAMING BUSINESSES 27 

2.1.18 CHANGES TO THE INLAND REVENUE ACT, NO. 24 OF 2017 27 

2.1.19 LEGISLATIONS ENACTED DURING THE YEAR 32 

2.1.20 GAZETTE NOTICES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR 33 
2.2 CHALLENGES AND FUTURE GOALS OF IRD 33 

2.2.1 CHALLENGES 33 

2.2.2 FUTURE GOALS 34 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT v

v 
 

CHAPTER 3 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR 37 
3.1 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 39 
3.2 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41 
3.3 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 42 
3.4 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 
3.5 PERFORMANCE OF THE REVENUE COLLECTION 61 
3.6 PERFORMANCE OF THE UTILIZATION OF ALLOCATION 62 
3.7 IN TERMS OF F.R. 208 GRANT OF ALLOCATIONS FOR EXPENDITURE TO INLAND 

REVENUE DEPARTMENT AS AN AGENT OF OTHER MINISTRIES/ DEPARTMENT 62 
3.8 PERFORMANCE OF THE REPORTING OF NON – FINANCIAL ASSETS 63 
3.9 AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT 63 

CHAPTER 04 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 65 
4.1 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS OF THE IRD 67 

CHAPTER 05 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 69 
5.1 PERFORMANCE OF ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS 71 

CHAPTER 06 HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT 73 
6.1 CADRE MANAGEMENT 75 
6.2 HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT 76 

CHAPTER 07 COMPLIANCE REPORT 79 
7.1 COMPLIANCE REPORT 81 
Annexures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENTvi

vi 
 

List of Tables 

Table 2.1: Taxes Administrated by IRD                                                                                9 
Table 2.2: Taxes Abolished and Repealed but Collection Made during the Year 2022    9 
Table 2.3: Total Revenue Collection – 2022                                                                         10 
Table 2.4: Revenue Comparison of Year 2022 and 2021                                                    . 11 
Table 2.5: Contribution of Inland Revenue Department to the Government Revenue 

and GDP (at Current Prices)                                                                               13 
Table 2.6: Transfer of Tax Revenue to Provincial Councils – 2022                                   14 
Table 2.7: Corporate & Non-Corporate Income Tax Collection                                       . 14 
Table 2.8: Value Added Tax Gross Collection and Refunds                                               15 
Table 2.9: Sector wise Analysis of VAT Contribution to GDP                                          . 16 
Table 2.10: Details of Audits                                                                                                 17 
Table 2.11: Classification of Additional Taxes by Corporate and Other Units                                                                                                                                    

(excluding penalty)                                                                                            . 18 
Table 2.12: Analysis of the Appeals Received and Settled                                                  18 
Table 2.13: Number of Taxpayers registered                                                                      . 19 
Table 2.14: Revenue Collection, Total Expenditure and Cost of Collection                                 20 
Table 2.15: Awareness Programs for Taxpayers and Tax Professionals in Year 2022   22                                                                                                                                         
Table 2.16: Income Tax Return Compliance 2017/2018 - 2021/2022                                 23 
Table 2.17: Return Compliance on VAT and PAYE                                                          . 23 
Table 2.18: Analysis of the Default Taxes – as at 31.12.2022                                              24 

Table 2.19: Gazette Notices Published During the Year 2022                                           33                                             

Table 4.1: Performance Indicators of the Year 2022                                                          . 68 
Table 5.1: Activities of the IRD based on the Sustainable Development Goals                71 
Table 6.1: Cadre as at 31.12.2022                                                                                         75 
Table 6.2: Cadre Summary as at 31.12.2022                                                                        76 
Table 6.3: Human Resource Development Programs Conducted in Year 2022              76 
 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT vii

vii 
 

List of Figures 

Figure 2.1: Total Revenue Collection - 2022                                                                        11 

Figure 2.2: Revenue Comparison of Year 2022 with 2021                                                  12 

Figure 2.3: IRD Contribution to the Government Revenue                                               13 

Figure 2.4: Corporate and Non - Corporate Income Tax Collection 2022 & 2021        14 

Figure 2.5: Sector Wise Value Added Tax Collection                                  16 

Figure 2.6: Sector Wise Analysis of VAT Contribution to GDP                            17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENTviii viii 

 

Abbreviations 

AIT Advance Income Tax 
APIT Advanced Personal Income Tax 
BGL Betting and Gamming Levy 
CGIR Commissioner General of Inland Revenue 
CGT Capital Gain Tax 
CIGFL Construction Industry Guarantee Fund Levy 
CIT Corporate Income Tax 
DRL Debt Repayment Levy 
ESC Economic Service Charge 
FR Financial Regulation 
GDP Gross Domestic Product 
GST Goods and Services Tax 
ICT Information and Communication Technology 
IIT Individual Income Tax 
IR Inland Revenue 
IRD Inland Revenue Department 
IT Income Tax 
KPI Key Performance Indicators 
MBA Master of Business Administration 
MBA-T Master of Business Administration - Taxation 
Mn Millions 
MT Migrating Tax 
NBD National Budget Department 
NBT Nation Building Tax 
NSL National Security Levy 
OTPP Online Tax Payment Platform 
PAYE Pay As You Earn 
PIT Partnership Income Tax 
PSC Public Service Commission 
RAMIS Revenue Administration Management Information System 
RF Remittance Fee 
SA Self-Assessment 
SD Stamp Duty 
SSCL Social Security Contribution Levy 
ST Surcharge Tax 
STL Share Transaction Levy 
TIN Taxpayer Identification Number 
TOD Treasury Operations Department 
TT Turnover Tax 
TVT Tax on Voluntary Disclosure 
VAT Value Added Tax 
VAT on FS Value Added Tax on Financial Services 
WHT Withholding Tax 
w.e.f. With effect from 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT 1

01
CHAPTER

Institutional Profile



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT2

2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT 3

3 
 

 
The tax revenue plays a major role of a country in its vision towards a prosperous 

country. In Sri Lanka, tax collection has a long history and even after the reign of kings, 

during the colonial period tax revenue was essential for functioning of the state.  Tax 

revenue is the major source of income of the government while it is very significant in 

determining the direction of socio-economic development of a country. From the 

ancient times, different types of taxes were effective in our country and due to the 

necessity of an administrative body to levy tax, Income Tax Department was founded 

in 1932. At the same time, in the year of assessment 1931/1932, Income Tax was first 

introduced in Sri Lanka. Income Tax Department was renamed as “Department of 

Income Tax, Estate Duty and Stamps” in 1933 after amalgamation of Estate Duty and 

Stamp Duty with the Income Tax Department. In 1958 with the introduction of “Kaldor 

Reforms” it was renamed as Inland Revenue Department (IRD).  Levying of tax under 

Self – Assessment (SA) scheme was first introduced in 1972.  The Business Turnover 

Tax was introduced as an indirect tax in the year 1963. The Goods and Services Tax 

(GST) was introduced in 1998 in place of this Business Turnover Tax and further Value 

Added Tax was introduced in 2002 as a major indirect tax in order to minimize the 

cascading effect of GST.   

The total government revenue of Sri Lanka consists of tax revenue and non-tax revenue. 

The government introduces various types of taxes based on economic needs and 

assigned those to various institutions for administration. Among them IRD acts a major 

role in administrating various types of taxes such as Income Tax (IT), Value Added Tax 

(VAT), Betting and Gaming Levy (BGL), Stamp Duty (SD), Capital Gain Tax (CGT), 

Share Transaction Levy (STL), Withholding Tax (WHT), Migrating Tax (MT), 

Remittance Fee (RF), Surcharge Tax (ST), Tax on Voluntary Disclosure (TVD) and 

Social Security Contribution Levy (SSCL).  

As per the hierarchy, IRD consists of Commissioner General, 09 Deputy 

Commissioners General, 22 Senior Commissioners, 90 Commissioners and 925 Senior 

Deputy Commissioners, Deputy Commissioners and Assistant Commissioners and 

1,450 officers of the other services. At present Mr. D. R. S. Hapuarachchi hold the 

position of Commissioner General of the IRD as 34th Commissioner General who 

assumed duties in 2022.This Performance Report has been compiled as per the section 

2.4 of the Public Finance Circular No. 402 dated 12th September 2002.  
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Vision 
 

To be a taxpayer friendly tax administrator delivering excellent service to the 

taxpaying public, with well trained and dedicated staff. 

 

Mission 
 

To collect taxes in-terms of relevant tax and other related laws, by encouraging 

voluntary compliance while deterring tax evasion and tax avoidance, and to enhance 

public confidence in the tax system administered by the Department of Inland 

Revenue by administering relevant tax and other related laws in a fair, friendly and 

expeditious manner and thereby facilitate a beneficial tax culture. 

 
 

Strategic Goals 
 

To improve voluntary compliance by taxpayers with the tax laws through programs, 

which encourage and assist in that and detect those who do not comply and, where 

necessary, take appropriate corrective action. 

 

To improve the effectiveness of the Department by the application of efficient work 

methods, technology and better utilization of available resources. 

 

To enhance the productivity and professionalism of the staff through management 

and technical training, work experience, and thereby to enable them to contribute 

more effectively towards the fulfillment, by the Department, of its mission. 
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➢ Administration of all enactments falls under the purview of the Commissioner 

General of Inland Revenue (CGIR) 

➢ Collection of government tax revenue 

➢ Providing feedback on implementation of fiscal policies 

 

• Customer Services & Promotion Division 
 

• Large Corporate Division  
 

• Upper Corporate Division 
 

• Medium Corporate Division 
 

• High Net Worth and VIP and RTP Division 
 

• Metro and Regional Division 
 

• Appeal Division 
 

• Refund Division 
 

• Default Tax Recovery Division 
 

• Secretariat  
 

• Source Tax Division 
 

• Information & Communication Technology (ICT) Administration Division 
 

• Fraud Prevention and Investigation Division 
 

• Human Resource and Assets Administration Division 
 

• Finance Division 
 

• Revenue Administration and Management Information System (RAMIS) 
Project Division 
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    Some branches/ posts have been divided into two or more units for ease of administration.
    Legacy branch is not included in this chart since it is a tempory branch. ix
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2.1.1 Taxes Administered by IRD during the Year 

Taxes imposed under enactments administered by IRD during the year are shown in 

Table 2.1. 

Table 2.1: Taxes Administrated by IRD 

Tax Enactments 

Income Tax Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017 as amended by Act, No. 
10 of 2021 and 45 of 2022 

Value Added Tax (including 
VAT on Financial services) 

Value Added Tax Act, No. 14 of 2002 as amended by Act, 
No. 7 of 2003, 13 of 2004, 6 of 2005, 08 of 2006, 14 of 2007, 
15 of 2008, 15 of 2009, 9 of 2011, 7 of 2012, 17 of 2013, 7 of 
2014, 11 of 2015, 20 of 2016, 25 of 2018,19 of 2019, No.9 of 
2021, No. 13 of 2022 and No. 44 of 2022 

Betting and Gaming Levy Betting and Gaming Levy Act, No. 40 of 1988 as amended by 
Act No. 14 of 2015 

Stamp Duty 
Stamp Duty Act, No. 43 of 1982 and the Stamp Duty (Special 
Provisions) Act, No. 12 of 2006 as amended by Act, No. 10 of 
2008 and 13 of 2011 

Share Transaction Levy Finance Act, No. 5 of 2005 and Finance Act. No. 13 of 2007 

Migrating Tax Finance Act, No. 10 of 2015 

Tax on Voluntary Disclosure Finance Act, No. 18 of 2021 

Surcharge Tax Surcharge Tax Act, No.14 of 2022  

Social Security Contribution Levy Social Security Contribution Levy Act, No.25 of 2022 

Remittance Fee Foreign Exchange Act, No. 12 of 2017 

Casino License Fee Casino Business (Regulation) Act, No.17 of 2010 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

The IRD continued to collect following taxes, which were in force earlier and have 

since been repealed or abolished. 

Table 2.2: Taxes Abolished and Repealed but Collection Made during the Year 
2022 

Tax Relevant Enactment 

National Security Levy National Security Levy Act, No. 52 of 1991 as amended 

Turnover Tax (Northern Province) Turnover Tax Act, No. 69 of 1981 as amended 

Construction Industry Guarantee 
Fund Levy Finance Act, No. 5 of 2005 as amended 

Economic Service Charge Economic Service Charge Act, No. 13 of 2006 as amended  

Nation Building Tax 
 Nation Building Tax Act, No. 9 of 2009 as amended  

Debt Repayment Levy Finance Act, No. 35 of 2018 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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2.1.2 Total Revenue Collection 

Inland Revenue Department recorded an auspicious growth in revenue collection by 

collecting net revenue of Rs. 1,058,080,103,723/- (including Stamp Duty which is 

transferred in full to the Provincial Councils and the 1/3 of collection under Nation 

Building Tax which is transferred to the Provincial Councils) during the year 2022. It 

is the highest revenue achieved by IRD in its history. 

The total revenue collection for the year, amounting to Rs. 1,058,080 million shows an 

increase of Rs. 425,250 million comparing the previous year. This achievement was 

possible mainly due to tax policy changes introduced by the Government including 

introducing Tax on Voluntary Disclosure, Social Security Contribution Levy and 

Surcharge Tax and rate changes on VAT done in time to time. Meanwhile, the wide 

array of measures undertaken by IRD for facilitating and enforcement of compliance 

upheld its success. 

The ratio of the total revenue contribution by the IRD to the Government revenue in 

the year was 53.46%. Total collection of revenue indicates 93.55% achievement when 

compared to the revenue under each type of taxes with the corresponding estimates 

while net revenue collection (excluding Stamp Duty which is transferred in full to the 

Provincial Councils and the 1/3 of collection under Nation Building Tax which is 

transferred to the Provincial Councils) was 92.41% from the estimate for the year. 

 

Table 2.3: Total Revenue Collection – 2022 

Type of Tax Revenue Estimate 
(Rs:) 

Revenue 
collection (Rs:) 

Collectio
n as a % 

of 
Estimate 

Collectio
n as a % 
of Total 
Revenue 

Income Tax 553,000,000,000   524,533,797,581  94.85% 49.57% 
Capital Gain Tax 1,100,000,000       5,315,389,458  483.22% 0.50% 
Value Added Tax 533,000,000,000   463,071,659,532  86.88% 43.77% 
Tax on Voluntary 
Disclosure 3,900,000,000       3,969,890,410  101.79% 0.38% 

Debt Repayment Levy -               81,798,840                 -    0.01% 
Betting & Gaming Levy 2,000,000,000      5,244,762,337  262.24% 0.50% 
Share Transaction Levy 3,000,000,000      4,215,856,857  140.53% 0.40% 
Migrating Tax          11,000,000            10,728,103  97.53% 0.00% 
Stamp Duty                           -      12,719,609,022                 -    1.20% 
Economic Service Charge                           -           201,752,669  0.00% 0.02% 
Nation Building Tax                           -           585,045,019  0.00% 0.06% 
Turnover Tax                           -               7,473,447                 -    0.00% 
National Security Levy                           -              11,309,942                 -    0.00% 
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Social Security 
Contribution Levy  35,000,000,000     36,111,030,506                 -    3.41% 

Casino License Fee                           -         2,000,000,000                -    0.19% 
Remittance Fee                 500,000                             -    0.00% 0.00% 
Total Revenue Collection  1,131,011,500,000 1,058,080,103,723 93.55% 100.00% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department  

 
Figure 2.1: Total Revenue Collection - 2022 

 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 

Table 2.4: Revenue Comparison of Year 2022 and 2021 
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Nation Building Tax           585,045,019                   599,129,474  -2.35% 

Goods & Services Tax                     -                            244,534  -100.00% 

Turnover Tax               7,473,447                     18,742,858  -60.13% 

National Security Levy             11,309,942                          322,006  3412.34% 

Social Security Contribution Levy      36,111,030,506                                     -                         -    

Casino License Fee         2,000,000,000                                      -                         -    
Construction Industry Guarantee 
Fund Levy                               -                              422,144  -100.00% 

Remittance Fee                              -                           5,214,948  -100.00% 

Total Revenue Collection  1,058,080,103,723 632,830,585,185 67.20% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 
Figure 2.2: Revenue Comparison of Year 2022 with 2021 

 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.3 Contribution of the Inland Revenue Department to the Government 
Revenue 

Table 2.5 shows the contribution of the Inland Revenue Department to the Government 

Revenue and to the Gross Domestic Production (GDP) in 2022 and its trends in last 

consecutive four years. Figure 2.3 illustrates these contributions. Total Government 

Revenue in 2022 was Rs. 1,979,184 million and IRD recorded 53.46% from the total 

Government revenue. 

Revenue collection of IRD as a percentage of GDP at current price was 4.38 % in 2022.  
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Table 2.5: Contribution of Inland Revenue Department to the Government 
Revenue and GDP (at Current Prices) 

Year 
Government 

Revenue   
(Rs. Mn) 

IRD’S 
Collection  
(Rs. Mn) 

% of IRD’s 
Collection to 

Gov. Revenue 

GDP at Current 
Prices of Major 

Economic 
Activities 
(Rs. Mn)  

% of 
IRD’s 

Collection 
to GDP 

2018 1,919,973  900,348 46.89% 15,351,933 5.86% 
2019 1,890,899 1,025,319 54.22% 15,910,976 6.44% 
2020 1,367,960 523,934 38.30% 15,671,535 3.34% 
2021 1,457,071 632,831 43.43% 17,600,191 3.60% 
2022 1,979,184 1,058,080 53.46% 24,147,726 4.38% 

Source: Central Bank of Sri Lanka 

Figure 2.3: IRD Contribution to the Government Revenue 

 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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Table 2.6 shows the total revenue collection and the amount transferred to the 

Provincial Councils of respective taxes. 

 

Table 2.6: Transfer of Tax Revenue to Provincial Councils – 2022 

  Total Collection (Rs.) Amount Transferred to 
Provincial Councils (Rs.) % 

Nation Building Tax                     585,045,019                            171,617,459  33.33% 
Stamp Duty                 12,719,609,022                       12,719,609,022  100% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.5 Income Tax Collection 

The contribution from the corporate sector to the total income tax collection amounted 

to Rs. 455,158 million or 87% of the total income tax collected. The non-corporate 

sector contributed Rs. 69,376 million or 13%.  

Table 2.7 shows the composition and Figure 2.4 illustrates it. 

 

Table 2.7: Corporate & Non-Corporate Income Tax Collection  

  

2022 2021 

Tax Collection (Rs.) % Tax Collection (Rs.) % 
Corporate*        455,157,793,291  87%            251,830,847,280  84% 

Non- Corporate**         69,376,004,290  13%              48,713,743,992  16% 

Total    524,533,797,581  100%        300,544,591,272  100% 

* Includes Dividends Tax of Rs. 251 Mn in 2022 & Rs. 483 Mn in 2021 

**Includes WHT and Income Tax paid by employees under Pay as You Earn (PAYE) scheme 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

Figure 2.4: Corporate and Non - Corporate Income Tax Collection 2022 & 2021 

 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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2.1.6 Value Added Tax Collection 

The Value Added Tax (VAT) collection during the year reflects an increase of Rs. 

154,859 million and 50.24% over that of the previous year which was Rs 308,213 

million. However, when compared with the estimate of Rs. 533,000 million for the year, 

the percentage of revenue collection under VAT is 86.88 which is Rs. 463,072 million. 

The original revenue estimate for VAT was Rs. 424,000 million as Rs. 264,000 for 

domestic VAT and Rs. 160,000 for VAT on imports. The estimate was revised based 

on the VAT rate change from 12% to 15%, VAT liable threshold change from Rs. 300 

million to Rs. 80 million and removal of exemption for the condominium properties 

w.e.f. 01.10.2022. Whether rate change of VAT was introduced w.e.f. 01.10.2022, the 

expected revenue under that change was received only in November and December in 

the year. Also, the threshold change has been originally proposed to implement on 

October 1, 2022 and it was passed by the parliament on December 14, 2022. Hence, 

there was no effect from threshold change for the 2022 VAT revenue collection. Also, 

the removal of exemption for sale of condominium properties was introduced w.e.f. 

January 1, 2022. Hence, the estimated collection for VAT has not been achieved by 

IRD due to aforesaid reasons. 

VAT collected on domestic supplies shows Rs. 120 billion increment with compared to 

VAT on imports. The total domestic VAT collected for the year was Rs. 291,619 

million and this amount was an increase of 57.24% over that of the Rs. 185,462 million 

of the year 2021. Meanwhile, VAT collected on imports during the year 2022 shows an 

increase of 40% over the previous year. 

Table 2.8 shows the sector wise gross collection of Value Added Tax, refunds and the 

net collection. Figure 2.5 illustrates the sector wise VAT collection during the year 

2022. 

Table 2.8: Value Added Tax Gross Collection and Refunds 

Sector  
2022 2021 

Gross 
Collection  Refunds Net Collection   Net Collection   

Manufacturing  112,814,295,865 673,522,064  112,140,773,801   39,635,391,763 

 Non - 
Manufacturing            

   Service  116,010,177,196   116,010,177,196 78,509,090,905   

   Financial   
Service 63,468,269,737   63,468,269,737 67,317,686,840 145,826,777,745 
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 Imports  171,478,020,566  25,581,768  171,452,438,798   122,750,875,084 

 Total      463,071,659,532   308,213,044,592 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

Figure 2.5: Sector Wise Value Added Tax Collection 

 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 

VAT manufacturing sector collection records 0.46% to the GDP while non – 

manufacturing sector revenue records 0.74% and imports sector records 0.71% for the 

GDP during the year. Table 2.9 shows the VAT on sector wise net collection of Value 

Added Tax and percentage of VAT collection to GDP which is illustrated in Figure 2.6. 

 

Table 2.9: Sector Wise Analysis of VAT Contribution to GDP 

Sector  

2022 2021 Percentage of VAT collection to GDP 

Net Collection 
(Rs) % Net Collection 

(Rs) % 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

Manufacturing Sector  112,140,773,801 24.22% 39,635,391,763 12.86% 0.46% 0.23% 0.27% 0.54% 0.52% 

Non-manufacturing 
Sector  179,478,446,933 38.76% 145,826,777,745 47.31% 0.74% 0.83% 0.67% 1.19% 1.32% 

On Imports 171,452,438,798 37.03% 122,750,875,084 39.83% 0.71% 0.70% 0.55% 1.07% 1.17% 

Total 463,071,659,532 100.00% 308,213,044,592 100.00% 1.92% 1.75% 1.49% 2.79% 3.01% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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Figure 2.6: Sector Wise Analysis of VAT Contribution to GDP 

 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.7 Audits 

Audits and investigations were undertaken during 2022 to a widest possible coverage 

of the taxpayer population, in terms of business activity, entity type and business size. 

Accordingly, it has been possible to commence 6,989 audits and complete 5,356 audits 

during the year. Achieving these numbers were possible due to end of the COVID-19 

pandemic and allocating additional income targets to the officers.  Table 2.10 and Table 

2.11 shows the details of audits and revenue collected through audits. 

Table 2.10: Details of Audits 

     Rs. '000 

  
Income Tax VAT PAYE Others Total 

Total amount of additional tax 
assessed during the year   14,462,306   24,474,784    34,718   2,156,502   41,128,310  

Total amount of additional tax 
collected during the year    9,558,275    1,709,536   32,351  2,011,361  13,311,523  

Number of audit cases 
commenced during the year  6,989 

Number of audit cases 
finalized during the year 5,356 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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Table 2.11: Classification of Additional Taxes by Corporate and Other Units 
(excluding penalty) 

Description 

Additional 
Income/ 

Turnover 
Assessed 

and 
Agreed 

(Rs.'000) 

Additional Tax Assessed and Agreed (Rs.'000) 

Additional 
Tax 

Collected 
(Rs.'000) 

Corporate 
- LTU 

Corporate 
- Other 

Other 
Units Total 

Income 
Tax 72,492,938    9,309,070    2,821,388    2,331,848  14,462,306     9,558,275  

VAT 41,290,392    1,252,385    1,609,445  21,612,954  24,474,784    1,709,536  

PAYE      203,029         33,913              805                  -           34,718         32,351  

Others 61,791,716    1,928,168      127,595       100,738    2,156,502    2,011,361  

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.8 Appeals 

During the year, the IRD has settled 1,011 appeals received against the assessments 

issued, and the analysis of appeal position is as follows:  

Table 2.12: Analysis of the Appeals Received and Settled 

  
Income 

Tax VAT PAYE ESC NBT WHT Total 

Balance as at 01.01.2022 210 187 2 1 123 0 523 

Registered (as per APL 2) during 
the year 717 1,329 7 0 138 3 2,194 

Settled 431 405 2 0 172 1 1,011 

Submitted for CGIR's hearing 66 81 3 1 23 0 174 

Balance as at 31.12.2022 430 1,030 4 0 66 2 1,532 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 
2.1.9 Details of Taxpayer Registration 

The number of persons registered with the IRD for different taxation purposes, as at the 

end of the year 2022 is shown in Table 2.13. 
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Table 2.13: Number of Taxpayers Registered  

 as at 31.12.2021 as at 31.12.2022 
Income Tax          
Corporate         
Resident Companies / Non - Resident 
Companies 68,009      73,444    

Non - Corporate         
Individuals 292,305    204,467    
Partnerships  16,798       13,766    
Employees paying Income Tax under Pay-As-
You Earn (PAYE)/Advanced Personal Income 
Tax (APIT) Scheme 

      32,702        41,636    

Total Income Taxpayers   409,814    333,313  
Other Taxpayers         
Persons registered for Value Added Tax (VAT) 9,070       10,604    
Persons registered for Value Added Tax on 
Financial Services                             246            258    

Persons registered for Social Security 
Contribution Levy                             0        5,422    

Persons registered for Betting & Gamming 
Levy Taxpayers 660           624    

Total Other Taxpayers   9,976   16,908  
 Employers Registered under PAYE/APIT 
Scheme             34,985       34,596    

Withholding/Advanced Income Tax (AIT) 
agents registered for Withholding Tax/ AIT on 
Interest  

604            612    

 Withholding Tax/ AIT on Specified Fees 
(Regular Monthly Schedules Senders) 41,862      41,897    

 Stamp Duty (Regular Monthly Schedules 
Senders) 9,854      10,221    

    87,305      87,326  
Total Number of Registered Taxpayers    507,095    437,547  

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.10 Productivity Ratio 

The total expenditure of the IRD in the year 2022 was Rs. 8,713 million and the revenue 

collected was Rs. 1,058,080 million. Therefore, the productivity ratio (i.e. the revenue 

collected for every rupee of expenditure) is 121:1. In other words, the cost of collection 

for 100/- rupees was 82 cents. The cost of collection for the 100/- rupees excluding 

VAT, NBT, ESC and SSCL on imports, accounted Rs. 1. (In year 2021 the 

corresponding amounts were 72 cents and 90 cents respectively). Table 2.14 provides 

a classification of revenue collection, total expenditure and the cost of collection for the 

year 2020 to 2022. 
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Table 2.14: Revenue Collection, Total Expenditure and Cost of Collection  

                                                                                                                                                          Rs. Mn 
Description 2020 2021 2022 
Revenue collection       
   Income Tax              252,941.57       300,544.59   524,533.80  
   Capital Gain Tax                    357.59              667.88       5,315.39  
   Value Added Tax              233,786.12       308,213.04   463,071.66  
   Tax on Voluntary Disclosure                              -                174.62       3,969.89  
   Debt Repayment Levy                  3,002.27                  7.57            81.80  
   Betting and Gaming Levy                  1,428.07           1,939.35       5,244.76  
   Share Transaction Levy                  2,347.28           6,964.48       4,215.86  
   Migrating Tax                         5.85                17.03            10.73  
   Stamp Duty                11,354.84         12,949.84     12,719.61  
   Economic Service Charge                14,950.04              728.11          201.75  
   Nation Building Tax                  3,740.46              599.13          585.05  
   Goods & Services Tax                         0.23                  0.24                    -    
   Turnover Tax                       16.26                18.74              7.47  
   National Security Levy                         2.40                  0.32            11.31  
   Construction Industry Guarantee Fund Levy                         0.64                  0.42                   -    
   Remittance Fee                              -                    5.21                    -    
   Social Security Contribution Levy -  -     36,111.03  
   Casino License Fee -  -       2,000.00  
Total Collection              523,933.62      632,830.59  1,058,080.10  
Expenditure       
Recurrent Expenditure       
   Emoluments                  2,736.63           2,707.27         2,994.54  
   Travelling                         7.09                  2.62                3.64  
   Supplies and Equipment                     121.00              136.34            219.11  
   Maintenance and repairs                     158.78              183.54            203.79  
   Contracted Services                     593.20              584.13            625.17  
   Transfers                       44.76                33.58              35.32  
   Others (Loses & Write off)                         0.22                       -                       -    
Capital Expenditure                                          
   Rehabilitation & Improvements                     139.77                38.73                9.57  
   Acquisitions                       65.01                50.62              16.90  
   Capacity building                       19.74                17.01              26.74  
   Investment (RAMIS Project)                     227.60              823.16         4,578.31  
   Investment (New IR Act)                     375.92                       -                       -    
Total Expenditure                  4,489.72           4,577.00         8,713.10  
        
Cost of Collection per 100/-                          0.86                 0.72                0.82  

Cost of Collection per 100/-, excluding VAT, 
NBT, ESC and SSCL on imports                         1.03                  0.90  1.00 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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2.1.11 Awareness Programs for Taxpayers and Tax Professionals 

Inland Revenue Department organized awareness programs for taxpayers and tax 

professionals during the year 2022. These programs mainly focused on delivering 

knowledge about changes of tax law and return filling through e-Service. Both online 

and physical programs were conducted and recordings of the programs were shared 

through social media. 

Table 2.15: Awareness Programs for Taxpayers and Tax Professionals in Year 
2022 

No. Subject Institute No. of Persons attend 

1 Value Added Tax and Stamp 
Duty 

Construction Industry 
Development Authority 150 

2 Taxpayer Registration Taxpayer Registration 
Training - IMF (SARTTAC) 100 

3 Advanced Personal Income Tax 
(APIT)/PAYE - 21/22 

Taxpayers / Audit Firms/Tax 
Consultants and all 

stakeholders interested in the 
Subject 

Awareness programs 
have been Recorded 
and uploaded to the 

YouTube Channel of 
IRD and links have 

been sent to the 
customers via email 

and also published on 
department Facebook 

page and website. 

4 Withholding Tax / Advance 
Income Tax - 21/ 22 

5 Simplified Value Added Tax 
Submission (SVAT) 

6 Value Added Tax Urban Development 
Authority 100 

7 Statement of Estimated Income 
Tax Payable - 2022/2023 (SET) 

Taxpayers / Audit firms / Tax 
Consultants and all 

stakeholders interested in the 
Subject 

Awareness programs 
have been Recorded 
and uploaded to the 

YouTube Channel of 
IRD and links have 

been sent to the 
customers via email 

and also published on 
department Facebook 

page and website. 

8 Double Tax/ Outward 
Remittance Electricity Board (Via Microsoft Teams) 

250  
9 Taxation Ministry of Education 

(Seminar for Teachers) 250  

10 Social Security Contribution 
Levy - Sinhala 

Taxpayers / Audit firms / Tax 
Consultants and all 

stakeholders interested in the 
Subject 

Awareness programs 
have been Recorded 
and uploaded to the 

YouTube Channel of 
IRD and links have 

been sent to the 
customers via email 

and also published on 
department Facebook 

page and website. 

 

11 Social Security Contribution 
Levy - English 

 

12 Social Security Contribution 
Levy - Tamil 
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13 Tax Laws and Policies Industrial Development 
Board - Gampaha 200  

14 Tax procedures and Industrial 
Sector 

Chamber of Commerce & 
Industries - Jaffna (Webinar) 350  

15 Corporate Income Tax- 
2021/2022 (Sinhala) 

Taxpayers / Audit firms / Tax 
Consultants and all 

stakeholders interested in the 
Subject 

Awareness programs 
have been Recorded 
and uploaded to the 

YouTube Channel of 
IRD and links have 

been sent to the 
customers via email 

and also published on 
department Facebook 

page and website. 

 

16 Income Tax and PAYE National Institute of Taxation 200  

17 Taxation and Government tax 
policies 

Ministry of Education 
(Kalawewa) 150  

18 Corporate Income Tax- 
2021/2022 English 

Taxpayers / Audit firms / Tax 
Consultants and all 

stakeholders interested in the 
Subject 

Awareness programs 
have been Recorded 
and uploaded to the 

YouTube Channel of 
IRD and links have 

been sent to the 
customers via email 

and also published on 
department Facebook 

page and website. 

 

19 
Individual Income Tax - 
2021/2022  
Tamil 

 

20 
Partnership Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
Tamil     

 

 

21 
Corporate Income Tax - 
2021/2022  
Tamil      

 

 

22 
Individual Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
Sinhala 

 

 

23 
Partnership Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
Sinhala 

 

 

24 
Individual Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
English 

 

 

25 
Partnership Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
English 

 

 

26 
Individual Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
E-filling 

 

 

27 
Partnership Income Tax - 
2021/2022 
E-filling 

 

 

28 New Tax Policies Ministry of Health 
Kukuleganga  300 

 

 
29 New Tax Policies National Audit Office 1,300  

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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2.1.12 Return Compliance 

Programs conducted for enhancing taxpayer compliance in timely filing of tax returns 

and paying taxes on self-assessment basis continued during the year.  

 

Table 2.16: Income Tax Return Compliance 2017/2018 - 2021/2022 

Year of assessment Sector Compliance on due 
date  

Compliance within 
one month from the 

due date 

2017/2018 
Corporate 47% 51% 
Non-Corporate 31% 38% 

2018/2019 
Corporate 47% 50% 
Non-Corporate 32% 38% 

2019/2020* 
Corporate 46%  
Non-Corporate 31%  

2020/2021* 
Corporate 26%  
Non-Corporate 21%  

2021/2022 
Corporate 32% 34% 
Non-Corporate 33% 38% 

*Return submission due date extended up to February 28, 2020 for the Y/A 2019/2020 and up to 
December 31, 2021 for the Y/A 2020/2021 for Income Tax. Details has been given by considering the 
extended date as due date. 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 
Table 2.17: Return Compliance on VAT and PAYE 

Year VAT PAYE   

Year 2021 47% Year of Assessment 2020/2021 15% 
Year 2022 46% Year of Assessment 2021/2022 11% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

During the year of assessment, the percentage of filing non-corporate Income Tax 

returns on the due date was 33% and within one month from the due date, it had 

increased to 38%. The compliance rate after two months from the due date was 41%. 

In the case of corporate sector, it was 32% on the due date and 34% within one month 

from the due date. The compliance rate within two months from the due date was 35% 

in this sector.   

Return submission due date was extended up to December 07, 2022 for CIT, IIT and 

PIT for the Y/A 21/22. The compliance rate of Income Tax shows subtle increment in 

the year with compared to the year 2020 and year 2022 due to the easing of instability 

cause by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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2.1.13   Taxes in Default 

Table 2.18 shows the default tax amounts, disputed amounts, penalties and the amount 

collectible as at December 31, 2022. 

Table 2.18: Analysis of the Default Taxes – as at 31.12.2022 

Type of Tax Gross Tax in 
Default Rs. 

Penalty and 
Interest Rs. 

Disputed Tax 
Rs. 

Penalty and 
Interest related 
to Dispute Tax 

Rs. 

Collectible Tax 
Rs. 

Penalty and 
Interest related 
to Collectible 

Tax Rs. 

 Income Tax 287,136,530,311  182,669,954,650  257,883,922,729  165,007,061,926  29,252,607,582   17,662,892,723  

Surcharge on Income Tax     164,565,071        110,267,535        164,565,071        110,267,535  -   -    

Withholding Tax    4,063,421,933      2,064,423,605     3,676,486,992     1,884,556,898         386,934,941   179,866,707  

Value Added Tax 135,263,986,217  132,040,832,942   75,135,255,645   82,111,749,800    60,128,730,573   49,929,083,143  

Value Added Tax - 
Financial Service  66,825,973,698    35,163,245,028   64,174,139,166   33,579,149,119      2,651,834,533   1,584,095,909  

Economic Service Charge     6,513,335,178      4,330,847,455      6,492,491,513      4,315,765,446           20,843,665   15,082,009  

Nation Building Tax   19,282,563,836    12,559,564,359    18,859,785,223    12,236,560,979         422,778,613   323,003,379  

Nation Building Tax - 
Financial Service    2,711,267,817      1,390,042,620     2,542,604,776     1,301,040,488        168,663,041   89,002,132  

Stamp Duty           9,732,724            4,866,362            9,732,724            4,866,362                          -     -    

Debit Tax    2,215,581,368                          -       2,215,581,368                          -                            -     -    

Turnover Tax       710,139,795        356,616,755         710,139,795        356,616,755                          -     -    

National Security Levy       761,131,631        324,789,855        761,131,631        324,789,855                           -     -    

Save the Nation 
Contribution         12,614,971            3,196,002          12,614,971            3,196,002                          -     -    

Wealth Tax                38,589                 24,143                 38,589                 24,143                          -     -    

Social Responsibility Levy              732,401                 11,523               732,401                 11,523                           -     -    

Debt Repayment Levy       826,602,417        461,203,212        822,692,772        417,720,394             3,909,645   43,482,818  

Betting & Gaming Levy    4,332,826,778      1,658,401,481     3,986,321,389     1,463,934,580         346,505,389   194,466,901  

Advance Company Tax                75,706                 24,167                 75,706                 24,167                          -     -    

Defense Levy       207,367,713          85,941,071        207,367,713          85,941,071                          -     -    

Compounding Penalty                         -            79,439,858                           -            58,130,162                          -     21,309,696  

Total 531,038,488,155  373,303,692,623  437,655,680,173  303,261,407,205    93,382,807,982   70,042,285,419  

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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2.1.14 Main Policy Changes Relating to Value Added Tax in the Year 2022 

2.1.14.1 VAT Rate on Supply of Financial Services  

VAT rate on the supply of financial services by a specified institution or other person 

has been increased from 15% to 18% with effect from January 01, 2022. 

Any specified institution or other person which has paid VAT on financial services at 

the rate of 15% for the period from January 01, 2022 to the period ending on the date 

of the certification of the Amendment Act is required to pay the balance tax amount on 

or before the twentieth day of the succeeding month of the certification of the 

Amendment Act (i.e. April 20, 2022). If the tax is so paid, such specified institution or 

person shall not be deemed to be a defaulter in terms of the provisions of the VAT Act. 

2.1.14.2 Change of Value Added Tax (VAT) Rate 

As per the Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2282/26 dated May 31, 2022, 

published under section 2A of the Value Added Tax Act, No. 14 of 2002, VAT rate has 

been revised with effect from June 01, 2022 as set out below. 

(a) Import of goods (Fabrics)  

Import of fabrics set out in the H.S. Code and description specified in Column I and II 

of Schedule of the Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2095/20 dated November 1, 

2018 – Zero per Centum (0%) 

(b) Standard Rate  

Import and/or supply of goods or supply of services, other than import of goods as 

referred to under above paragraph [paragraph (a)] including, supply of services by a 

hotel, guest house, restaurant or other similar businesses providing similar services, 

registered with the Sri Lanka Tourism Development Authority, (for which VAT rate on 

such supply was at 0% from December 01, 2019) – Twelve per Centum (12%) 

As per the Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2295/08 dated August 31, 2022, 

published under section 2A of the Value Added Tax Act, No. 14 of 2002, VAT rate has 

been revised again with effect from September 01, 2022 as set out below. 

 

(a) Standard Rate  

Import and/or supply of goods or supply of services, other than import of goods as 

referred to under above paragraph [paragraph (a)] Including, supply of services by a 

hotel, guest house, restaurant or other similar businesses providing similar services, 
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registered with the Sri Lanka Tourism Development Authority, (for which VAT rate on 

such supply was at 0% from December 01, 2019 to May 31, 2022) – Fifteen per Centum 

(15%) 

 

2.1.14.3 Changes to Registration Threshold of VAT 

The present threshold of Taxable supplies for the registration for VAT purpose of Rs. 

75,000,000 per taxable period or Rs. 300,000,000 per annum has been decreased to Rs. 

20,000,000 per taxable period or Rs. 80,000,000 per annum with effect from October 

01, 2022. 

 

2.1.14.4 Removal of Exemptions of VAT 

Exemption granted on supply of condominium residential accommodation by any 

person has been terminated and made liable for VAT with effect from January 01, 2023. 

 

2.1.14.5 Restructure of Exemption Granted to Address COVID 19 Pandemic  

Exemption granted in item (xxxi) of Paragraph (a) of Part II of the First Schedule, on 

supply or import of machinery and equipment including medical, surgical and dental 

instruments, apparatus, accessories and parts thereof, hospital or medical furniture and 

drugs, chemical and similar items, as recommended by the Secretary to the Ministry or 

the Minister assigned with the subject of Health, as required for the provision of health 

services to address the COVID 19 pandemic, with effect from May 20, 2020 has been 

terminated with effect from December 31, 2021.  

However, an amendment was made to provide such exemption only if such machinery, 

equipment, drugs and chemicals are donated to a government hospital or the Ministry 

of Health for the provision of health services to address any pandemic or public health 

emergency, approved by the Minister of Finance on the recommendation of the 

secretary to the Ministry of Health. 

2.1.15 Implementation of Surcharge Tax Act, No.14 of 2022 

In terms of provisions of the Surcharge Tax Act, No.14 of 2022, the “Surcharge Tax” 

has been imposed on  

(a) any individual, partnership of whose/ which taxable income of the year of 

assessment 2020/2021 exceeds Rupees two thousand million (2,000 Mn); 
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(b) any company,  

(i) if the taxable income of such company individually, exceeds Rupees two 

thousand million (2,000 Mn) for the year of assessment 2020/2021, or;  

(ii) Every company of a group of companies, of which aggregate of the taxable 

income of all subsidiaries and the holding company in that group of companies for 

the year of assessment 2020/2021 exceeds Rupees two thousand million (2,000 

Mn). 

 

2.1.16 Implementation of Social Security Contribution Levy Act, No. 25 of 2022 

Social Security Contribution Levy (SSCL) has been imposed with effect from October 

01, 2022, at the rate of 2.5% by the Social Security Contribution Levy Act, No. 25 of 

2022 (SSCL Act). 

 

2.1.17 Issuing License for Casino Gaming Businesses 

As per the Extraordinary Gazette Notification No. 2295/10 dated August 31, 2022, 

published under Section 4 of the Casino Business (Regulation) Act, No. 17 of 2010 that 

is operative from September 01, 2022, Commissioner General has been appointed as 

the “Authorized Officer” in administering the Licenses for casino gaming business. 

 

2.1.18 Changes to the Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017 

2.1.18.1 Deduction of Withholding Tax (WHT), Advance Income Tax (AIT) and 
Advance Personal Income Tax (APIT)  

Deduction of WHT, AIT and APIT has been made mandatory with effect from January 

01, 2023 

WHT/AIT on Certain Payments 

In terms of Section 84A and 85 of the IRA as amended, with effect from January 1, 

2023, a person shall deduct WHT/AIT on following payments which has a source in 

Sri Lanka except the exempt amounts, at the relevant rates. 
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Payment Relevant WHT 
Rate (%) 

Service fee payments exceeds Rs. 100000 per calendar month to a resident 
individual who is not an employee of the payer with respect to following – 
(a) For teaching,  Lecturing,  examining,  invigilating or Supervising an 
examination ; 
(b) As a commission or brokerage to a resident insurance, sales or  canvassing 
agent; or 
(c) For services provided by such individual  in the capacity of independent 
service provider such as doctor, engineer, accountant, lawyer, Software 
developer, researcher, academic or any individual service provider as may be 
prescribe by regulation 

5% on full 
payment 

Interest or discount paid 5% 

Rent payments to a resident person (if aggregate amount exceeds Rs. 100000 per 
calendar month) 

10% on full 
payment 

Charge, natural resource payment or premium 14% 

Royalty 14% 

Dividend 15% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

APIT on Remuneration 

In terms of Section 83A(1A) of the IRA as amended, with effect from January 1, 2023, 

an employer shall deduct Advance Personal Income Tax on any payment which falls 

under section 5 made to his employee, as specified by the Commissioner General. 

2.1.18.2 Changes in Reliefs – Individuals 

Type of Relief 

Year of Assessment (Y/A) 
First nine -month 
period of the Y/A 

2022/2023 01.04.2022-
31.12.2022 

Balance three-month 
period of the Y/A 

2022/2023 01.01.2023 - 
31.03.2023 

Y/A 2023/2024 & 
onwards 

01.04.2023 

Personal Relief for 
Residents or 

Citizens 
Rs. 2,250,000 Rs 300,000 Rs1,200,000 

Expenditure relief 
for Residents Rs. 900,000 Not Applicable Not Applicable 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.18.3 Calculation of Income Tax Payable for the Y/A 2022/2023 

Income tax payable for the Y/A shall be calculated separately for two periods on the 

actual basis, but for following cases proportionate basis could also be applied.  

- Individuals,  

May apportion the business income to arrive the taxable income on the pro-rata basis 

at 75:25 to the periods of nine month and three months respectively.  
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- Other than individuals,  

May apportion the business income to arrive the taxable income on the pro-rata basis 

at 50:50 to the periods of first six month and second six month respectively. 

2.1.18.4 Final Withholding Payments 

Income Tax Rate 

First nine- month period of 
the Y/A 2022/23                                          

01.04.2022 - 31.12.2022 

Balance three-month period of 
the Y/A 2022/23                      

01.01.2023-31.03.2023 

For the Y/A 2023/2024 & 
onwards 01.04.2023 

First    Rs.2,250,000    -   6% First    Rs.2,250,000    -   6% First    Rs.500,000    -   6% 

Next   Rs. 2,250,000   -   12% Next   Rs. 2,250,000   -   12% Next   Rs. 500,000   -   12% 

Balance                       -    18% Next   Rs. 2,250,000   -   18% Next   Rs. 500,000   -   18% 

  Next   Rs. 2,250,000   -   24% Next   Rs. 500,000   -   24% 

  Next   Rs. 2,250,000   -   30% Next   Rs. 500,000   -   30% 

  Balance   -    36% Balance   -    36% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.18.5 Income Tax Rates Applicable to persons other than Individuals with effect 
from 01.10.2022 

Type of persons Tax Rate 

Trust 30% 

Companies 30% (including gains from realization 
of investment assets) 

Unit Trust and Mutual Fund 30% 

Non-Governmental Organization (including on amounts 
received by way of grant, donation or contribution or in any 
other manner under section 68of the IRA) 

30% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.18.6 New Exemptions 

A gain from the realization of a capital asset or liability of the business or an investment 

asset made by an entity fully owned by the Government of Sri Lanka if such gain was 

made due to a decision by the Government of Sri Lanka as being essential for the 

economic development of Sri Lanka and subject to prior written approval of the 

Minister. 
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2.1.18.7 Removal of Exemptions from 01.10.2022 

i. A gain made by a person from the realization of land or building which was sold, 

exchanged, or transferred to a real estate investment trust listed in the Colombo Stock 

Exchange  

ii. Dividends paid by a resident company to a member who is a non-resident person  

iii. Dividends and gains on the realization of units or amounts derived as gains from the 

realization of capital assets of a business or investment by a unit holder from Real Estate 

Investment Trust. 

2.1.18.8 Removal of Exemptions from 01.04.2023 

Gains and profits earned or derived by any person from – 

i. Providing information technology and enabled services  

ii. Any Vocational Education Programmes of any Vocational Institution.  

iii. Any business of export of gold, gem or jewelry or from the business of 

cutting and polishing of gems which are brought to Sri Lanka and exported 

after such cutting and polishing.  

iv. A new undertaking for sale of recycled construction materials commenced 

on or after 01.04.2021  

v. An undertaking for the purpose of manufacturing of boats and ships (by a 

resident person) in Sri Lanka commenced on or after 01.04.2021.  

vi. Any renewable energy established with a capacity to produce not less than 

one hundred Mega Watts of solar or wind power and supplied such power 

to the national grid commenced on or after 01.04.2021.  

vii. From an undertaking (by any resident person) to construct and install of 

communication towers and related appliances using local labour and local 

raw materials in Sri Lanka or to provide required technical services for such 

construction or installation commenced on or after 01.01.2021  

viii. Undertaking for letting bonded warehouses or warehouses related to 

offshore business in the Colombo and Hambanthota Ports commenced on or 

after 01.04.2021. 

Gains and profits earned or derived by any Individual 

From any business commenced on or after 01.04.2021 upon successful completion of 

vocational education. 
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2.1.18.9 Changes to the Deduction Rules of the IRA 

i. Additional 100% deduction of Marketing and Communication Expenditure 

(granted subject to the provisions of the IRA) is not available for the year of 

assessment 2023/2024  

ii. Improvement expenditure incurred on depreciable assets which are having zero 

written down value (fully capital allowance granted depreciable assets) could be 

deducted as follows; 

Depreciable Asset Basis 

Buildings, structures and similar works of a 

permanent nature.  
Over 12 years in equal amount 

Other depreciable assets  Over 3 years in equal amounts 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

2.1.18.10 Removal of Concessionary Tax Rates 

Concessionary rates applied on gains and profits of following entities have been 

removed with effect from 01.10.2022. 

i. Small and Medium Enterprise (SME)  

ii. Business of export of goods  

iii. Specified undertaking  

iv. Providing educational services  

v. Promotion of tourism  

vi. Agro processing  

vii. Construction  

viii.  Health care services  

ix. Export company registered with BOI, from supply of health protective equipment 

for various government entities  

x. Gains and profits of company which listed its shares in the Colombo Stock 

Exchange during from January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 

xi. Consideration received in respect of gems and jewellery  

xii. Gains and profits from the supply of electricity to national grid generated using 

renewable energy resources  

xiii.  Manufacturing 
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Concessionary rates applied on gains and profits of Individuals have been removed with 

effect from 01.01.2023. 

i. Consideration received in respect of gems and jewellery  

ii. Supply of electricity to the national grid generated from renewable energy 

resources. 

2.1.18.11 Implementation of Budget Proposals – 2023 

As the National Budget of 2023 presented and passed in Parliament, following 

proposals specified under item No.1.3 of the technical note to improve the clarity of 

Income Tax Liability on dividend during the period from October 1, 2022 to December 

31, 2022, be implemented, as instructed by the Ministry of Finance on January 03, 2023, 

pending formal amendments being made to the Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017.  

 

1. Dividend received or derived by a non-resident during the period from October  

1, 2022 to December 31, 2022, is exempt from Income Tax.  

 

2. Applicable Income Tax rate for dividend received or derived by residents during the 

period from October 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022 is 15%. 

  

3. Dividend paid by a resident company to a member to the extent that such dividend 

payment is attributable to, or derived from, another dividend received by that resident 

company or another resident company, is exempt from Income Tax, during the period 

from October 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022. 

2.1.19 Legislations Enacted During the Year 

New amendment was introduced within the year as follows; 
   
❖ Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act, No. 45 of 2022 

❖ Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 13 of 2022 

❖ Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, No. 44 of 2022 

❖ Surcharge Tax Act, No. 14 of 2022 

❖ Social Security Contribution Levy Act, No. 25 of 2022 
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2.1.20 Gazette Notices Issued During the Year 

Following Gazette notices were issued during the year under the Inland Revenue Act, 

No. 24 of 2017, Value Added Tax Act, No.14 of 2002, Social Security Contribution 

Levy Act, No. 25 of 2022 and Casino Business (Regulation) Act, No. 17 of 2010.  

 
Table 2.19: Gazette Notices Published During the Year 2022 

  Gazette 
No. Date Description 

I 2282/26 31.05.2022 Order under Section 2A of Value Added Tax Act, 
No. 14 of 2002 

II 2295/08 31.08.2022 Order under Section 2A of Value Added Tax Act, 
No. 14 of 2002 

III 2295/09 31.08.2022 Order under Section 2 of Casino Business 
(Regulation) Act, No. 17 of 2010 

IV 2295/10 31.08.2022 
Regulations made under Section 4 of the Casino 
Business (Regulation) Act, No. 17 of 2010, read 
with Section 3 

V 2303/05 25.10.2022 Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 of 2017 - Notice under 
Subsection (2) and (3) of Section 66 

VI 2310/20 14.12.2022 Return of Social Security Contribution Levy 

VII 2312/16 28.12.2022 Inland Revenue Act, no. 24 of 2017, Notice under 
Section 83A 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 

 
2.2.1 Challenges 

2.1.1.1  Sri Lanka’s low tax to GDP ratio  
Tax to GDP ratio is total tax revenue as a percentage of GDP, which indicates the share 

of a country’s output that is collected by the government through the taxes. Sri Lanka 

has achieved 7.3% tax to GDP ratio in year 2022. Although it showed a growth 

comparing the year 2021 and 2022, it has not shown a significant growth.  

Sri Lanka has a large informal economic sector which has to be addressed through 

continuous awareness and enforcing the tax law. Tax base and tax compliance plays a 

vital role in this juncture. To achieve a higher tax revenue, it should be maintained a 
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simplified tax structure with optimum tax rates and thresholds by lowering the scope 

for tax avoidance and evasion.  

2.1.1.2  Direct to indirect ratio of tax collection 

The appropriate mix of direct and indirect taxes remains as a debate in political and 

academic circles with reference to the virtues and defects of those two forms. Policy 

formulations of Sri Lanka focus on achieving 60:40 direct and indirect tax composition 

while it is 30:70 at present. The current tax policy reforms expect higher tax revenue 

from indirect taxation which indicates from the newly introduced indirect taxes. 

Government uses indirect taxes to raise the revenue in short run. The indirect tax ratio 

for the total government in Year 2022 was 70%. Hence, achieving the direct and indirect 

tax ratio of 60:40 is a challenge to the IRD as the domestic tax collector of the 

government. 

2.1.1.3   Enforcing the Taxpayer Compliance 

Revenue authorities are generally required to achieve as good a compliance outcome as 

possible. Taxpayer obligations are categorized as registration in the system, timely 

filing or lodgment of requisite taxation information, reporting of complete and accurate 

information and payment of taxation obligations on time. To achieve a higher tax 

compliance, finite level of resources to be utilized and careful decisions are required as 

to how and in what ways those resources are to be applied to achieve the best possible 

outcome in terms of improved compliance with the tax laws.  

2.2.2 Future Goals 

2.2.2.1    Widening the Tax Base 

Through the tax reforms introduced with effect from January 01, 2023, government 

expect to widen the tax base. One of the tax administration proposals made by the 

government at the Budget Speech - 2023 was to identify high income earners specially 

and get them in to the tax net. Accordingly, government proposed to make a 

requirement of having everyone over 18 opening a tax file. IRD aims to execute this 

proposal in the future while administrating the normal procedure of opening tax files. 
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2.2.2.2   Improving the Tax Compliance 

Tax compliance can be improved by improving the existing attitudes towards paying 

taxes among the Sri Lankan people. Tax compliance includes the categories of 

registration compliance, payment compliance, return compliance and reporting correct 

information. Taxpayer contributions to the above categories are most important in the 

tax reforms that are underway to overcome the current economic downturn.  

Therefore, the Inland Revenue Department has prepared plans to conduct educational 

and awareness programs for tax payers to improve the society's attitude towards taxes. 

Thus, self-motivation is expected from the taxpayer to improve the tax compliance. 

 

2.2.2.3  Increasing the Tax Revenue 
Compared to the year 2022, the revenue target given to the Inland Revenue Department 

for the year 2023 has increased by 82% and IRD expects to increase the tax revenue to 

achieve the given target. Implementation of the new amendments introduced to the 

Inland Revenue Act, the development of human resources required for that and the 

improvement of the RAMIS system take center stage here. The purpose of this is to 

encourage the officials by distributing the revenue targets for each unit of the Inland 

Revenue Department and evaluating the progress of those units regularly and providing 

them with the necessary facilities to reach the relevant revenue targets. 

 

 

 

Commissioner General of Inland Revenue  
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        ACA -F 

Statement of Financial Performance  
for the period ended 31st December 2022 

         
Budget 2022 

   
Note 

 
Actual 

              
            2022   2021 

 Rs.             Rs.     Rs.    
Revenue 
Receipts 

   
  

  

   558,000,000,000  
 

Income Tax 
 

1 
 

534,020,830,117   302,115,199,047  
   573,011,500,000  

 
Taxes on 
Domestic Goods 
& Services 

 

2 

 

509,168,047,125   317,600,153,060  

                            -    
 

Taxes on 
International 
Trade 

 

3 

 

                          -                             -    

                            -    
 

Non - Tax 
Revenue & 
Others 

 

4 

 

    2,000,000,000                           -    

1,131,011,500,000  
 

Total Revenue 
Receipts (A) 

   
1,045,188,877,242  

 
619,715,352,107  

      
  

  
  

Non - Revenue 
Receipts 

   
  

 
                        -    

  
Treasury 
Imprests 

   
     16,558,013,981  

 
  14,028,178,350  

  
Deposits 

   
     10,942,129,318  

 
    9,567,919,307    

Advance 
Accounts 

   
          138,262,303  

 
       129,575,000  

  
Other Main 
Ledger Receipts  

   
                            -    

 
                        -    

  
Total Non-
Revenue 
Receipts (B) 

   

    27,638,405,602    23,725,672,656  
  

Total Revenue 
Receipts & Non 
- Revenue 
Receipts C = 
(A)+(B) 

   

  
1,072,827,282,844  

  
643,441,024,763  

  
Remittance to 
the Treasury 
(D) 

   

      6,507,962,948    8,046,782,572  

  
Net Revenue 
Receipts & Non 
- Revenue 
Receipts E = 
(C)-(D) 

   

1,066,319,319,896   635,394,242,191  

  
Less: 
Expenditure 

   
  

  

  
Recurrent 
Expenditure 
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       3,255,000,000  

 
Wages, Salaries 
& Other 
Employment 
Benefits 

 

5 

 

      2,994,539,601      2,707,274,006  

       1,221,300,000  
 

Other Goods & 
Services 

 
6 

 
       1,051,713,428         906,628,915  

           36,105,000  
 

Subsidies, Grants 
and Transfers 

 
7 

 
           35,316,987           33,581,025  

   -    
 

Interest 
Payments 

 
8 

 
                            -                             -    

     -    
 

Other Recurrent 
Expenditure 

 
9 

 
                            -                             -    

      4,512,405,000  

 
Total Recurrent 
Expenditure (F)  

 
 

 

      4,081,570,016      3,647,483,946  
  

Capital 
Expenditure 

 
 

 
  

  

           84,000,000  

 
Rehabilitation & 
Improvement of 
Capital Assets 

 

10 

 

            9,573,506          38,726,693  

      4,999,694,000  
 

Acquisition of 
Capital Assets 

 
11 

 
      4,595,212,844         873,776,860  

                  -    
 

Capital Transfers 
 

12 
 

                        -                         -    

                   -    
 

Acquisition of 
Financial Assets 

 
13 

 
                        -      -  

          51,000,000  
 

Capacity 
Building 

 
14 

 
           26,738,852            17,011,907  

                -    
 

Other Capital 
Expenditure 

 
15 

 
                       -                         -    

      5,134,694,000  

 
Total Capital 
Expenditure 
(G) 

   

      4,631,525,202         929,515,460  
  

Deposit 
Payments 

   
    11,126,719,851     10,947,718,434  

  
Advance 
Payments 

   
          122,552,016          142,351,298  

  
Other Main 
Ledger Payments 

   
          -                       -    

  
Total Main 
Ledger 
Expenditure 
(H) 

   

    11,249,271,867    11,090,069,732  

  
Total 
Expenditure I = 
(F+G+H) 

   

    19,962,367,085    15,667,069,139  

  
Balance as at 
31st December 
J = (E-I) 

   

1,046,356,952,811   619,727,173,052  
  

Balance as per 
the Imprest 
Reconciliation 
Statement  

   

1,046,356,952,811   619,727,173,052  

  
Imprest 
Balance as at 
31st December 

   

-                           -    
      

1,046,356,952,811   619,727,173,052  
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      ACA-P 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31st December 2022 

        Actual  

    Note   2022   2021 (Re stated) 

      Rs   Rs 
Non - Financial Assets 

   
    

 

Property, Plant & Equipment 

 

ACA-6 

 

        11,352,890,073             6,773,413,161  

Financial Assets 
   

    
 

Advance Accounts  ACA-
5/5(a) 

              332,197,324                347,907,610  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 
 

ACA-3 
 

                   -                             -    

Total Assets 
   

        11,685,087,396             7,121,320,771  
    

    
 

Net Assets / Equity 
   

    
 

Net Worth to Treasury 
   

            
(570,821,878)              

(754,787,833) 
Property, Plant & Equipment 
Reserve 

   
         11,352,890,073              6,773,413,161  

Rent and Work Advance Reserve  
 

ACA-
5(b) 

 
                              -       

Non - Current Liabilities 
   

    
 

Lease Creditors 
   

             29,529,980                  44,615,688  
Current Liabilities 

   
    

 

Deposits Accounts 
 

ACA-4 
 

              873,489,222              1,058,079,755  
Unsettled Imprest Balance 

 
ACA-3 

 
                              -       

Total Liabilities 
   

        11,685,087,396             7,121,320,771                
Detail Accounting Statements in ACA format Nos. 1 to 7 presented in pages from 7 to 45 and Annexures to 
accounts presented in pages from 46 to 58 form an integral part of these Financial Statements. The Financial 
Statements have been prepared in complying with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles whereas 
most appropriate Accounting Policies are used as disclosed in the Notes to the Financial Statements and 
hereby certify that figures in these Financial Statements, Notes to accounts and other relevant accounts were 
reconciled with the Treasury Books of Accounts and found in agreement. 

We hereby certify that an effective internal control system for the financial control exists in the Reporting 
Entity and carried out periodic reviews to monitor the effectiveness of internal control system for the 
financial control and accordingly make alterations as required for such systems to be effectively carried out.  
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  ACA-C 

Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Period ended 31st December 2022 

  Actual  
  2022 2021 
  Rs.  Rs.  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Total Tax Receipts         861,264,646,244          497,995,981,909  

Fees, Fines, Penalties and Licenses                              -                                -    

Profit                             -                                -    

Non - Revenue Receipts                             -                                -    

Revenue Collected on behalf of Other Revenue Heads               164,398,821                141,018,036  

Imprest Received          16,558,013,981           14,028,178,350  

Recoveries from Advance               145,939,795                133,653,882  

Deposit Received          10,287,570,619             8,760,068,280  
Total Cash generated from Operations (A)     888,420,569,460      521,058,900,457   

  
 

Less - Cash disbursed for:   
 

Personal Emoluments & Operating Payments            4,039,481,294             3,612,667,491  

Subsidies & Transfer Payments                35,316,987                 33,581,025  

Total Tax Refund         861,954,824,804          497,366,667,619  

Expenditure incurred on behalf of Other Heads                   7,093,593                   4,965,863  

Imprest Settlement to Treasury            6,507,962,948             8,046,782,572  

Advance Payments               123,729,792                141,539,181  

Deposit Payments          11,126,526,363           10,947,718,434  

Total Cash disbursed for Operations (B)     883,794,935,781      520,153,922,185  

NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
(C)=(A)-(B)         4,625,633,678             904,978,272  
 

  
 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities   
 

Interest  -                             -    

Dividends                             -                                -    

Divestiture Proceeds & Sale of Physical Assets                             -                                -    

Recoveries from On Lending                             -                                -    

Total Cash generated from Investing Activities (D)                             -                                -    
 

                                

Less - Cash disbursed for:    

Purchase or Construction of Physical Assets & Acquisition 
of Other Investment             4,625,633,678                904,978,272  

Total Cash disbursed for Investing Activities (E)         4,625,633,678             904,978,272   
  

 

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
(F)=(D)-(E)       (4,625,633,678)          (904,978,272) 
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NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & 
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (G)= (C) + (F)                              0  0  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities   
 

Local Borrowings                             -                                -    

Foreign Borrowings                             -                                -    
Grants Received                             -                                -    
Total Cash generated from Financing Activities (H)                             -                                -    
 

  
 

Less - Cash disbursed for:    

Repayment of Local Borrowings                             -                                -    

Repayment of Foreign Borrowings                             -                                -    

Total Cash disbursed for Financing Activities (I)                             -                                -    
 

  
 

NET CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
(J)=(H)-(I)                             -                                -    
 

  
 

Net Movement in Cash (K) = (G) + (J)                             -                                -    
Opening Cash Balance as at 01st January                              -                                -    

Closing Cash Balance as at 31st December                             -                                -    
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    Rs. ‘000 

Revenue 
Code 

Description of the 
Revenue Code 

Revenue Estimate Collected Revenue 

Original Final Amount (Rs.) 
as a % of Final 

Revenue 
Estimate 

 INCOME TAX         

 10.04.01.01  Income Tax 425,000,000 471,000,000 453,905,242 96% 

 10.04.01.02  Dividend Tax 6,200,000 1,000,000 250,703 25% 

 10.04.01.03  Remittance Tax 5,000,000 3,000,000 1,001,849 33% 

 10.04.02.01  PAYE  18,000,000 35,000,000 25,546,114 73% 

 10.04.02.99  Other 28,000,000 18,000,000 23,991,057 133% 

 10.04.03.00  Withholding Tax        12,000,000        25,000,000  19,838,833 79% 

 10.04.03.01    On Interest 3,000,000 10,000,000 320,627 3% 

 10.04.03.99    On Fees & Other  9,000,000 15,000,000 19,518,207 130% 

 10.04.04.00  Economic Service 
Charge               201,753    

 10.04.04.01  Domestic               174,029    

 10.04.04.02  Imports     27,724   

 10.04.05.00  Capital Gain Tax 800,000 1,100,000 5,315,389 483% 

10.04.06.00 Tax on Voluntary 
Disclosure 1,000,000 3,900,000 3,969,890 102% 

 
TAXES ON 
DOMESTIC 
GOODS & 
SERVICES 

        

 10.02.01.00  Value Added Tax     424,000,000      533,000,000     463,071,660  87% 

 10.02.01.01  Financial Services 86,000,000 75,000,000 63,468,270 85% 

 10.02.01.02  Other Services 106,000,000 161,000,000 116,010,177 72% 

 10.02.01.03  Manufacturing 72,000,000 81,000,000 112,140,774 138% 

 10.02.01.04  Imports 160,000,000 216,000,000 171,452,439 79% 

 10.02.02.00  Goods and Services 
Tax          

 10.02.02.01  Services         

 10.02.02.02  Manufacturing         

 10.02.02.03  Imports         

 10.02.03.00  National Security 
Levy     11,310   

 10.02.03.01  Services     11,310   

 10.02.03.02  Manufacturing         

 10.02.03.03  Imports         

 10.02.07.00  Stamp Duty         

 10.02.08.00  Debits Tax         

 10.02.09.00  Turnover Tax     7,473   

 10.02.12.00  Nation Building Tax     413,428   

 10.02.12.01  Services     332,880   

 10.02.12.02  Manufacturing     19,404   

 10.02.12.03  Imports     61,144   

10.02.16.00 Social Security 
Contribution Levy 140,000,000 35,000,000 36,111,031 103% 

10.02.16.01 Services     13,191,134   



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT62

62 
 

10.02.16.02 Manufacturing     10,167,032   

10.02.16.03 Imports     12,752,865   
 License Taxes and 

other 7,807,000 5,011,500 11,553,146 231% 

 10.03.03.00  Betting & Gaming 
Levy 2,500,000 2,000,000 5,244,762 262% 

 10.03.04.00  Share Transaction 
Levy 5,300,000 3,000,000 4,215,857 141% 

 10.03.05.00  Construction Industry 
Guarantee Fund Levy        

 10.03.07.00  Other Licenses          

 10.03.07.11  Debt Repayment 
Levy    81,799   

 10.03.09.00  
Taxes on Lands 
leased out to 
Foreigners 

       

 10.03.10.00  Migrating Tax 6,000 11,000 10,728 98% 

 10.03.11.00  Remittance Fee 1,000 500   0% 

20.03.02.23 Casino License Fee            2,000,000    

  Total Revenue  1,067,807,000 1,131,011,500 1,045,188,877 92% 

* Excluding Stamp Duty which is transferred in full to the Provincial Councils and the 1/3 of collection under 
Nation Building Tax which is transferred to the Provincial Councils  

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 

 

    Rs.  ‘000 

Type of 
Allocation 

Allocation Actual 
Expenditure 

Allocation 
Utilization as a % 
of Final Allocation Original Final 

Recurrent 4,642,405 4,512,405 4,081,570 90% 
Capital 1,521,570 5,134,694 4,631,525 90% 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 

 

      Rs.  ‘000 

Serial 
No. 

Allocation Received 
from Which 

Ministry/ 
Department 

Purpose of 
the 

Allocation 

Allocation Actual 
Expenditure 

Allocation 
Utilization 
as a % of 

Final 
Allocation Original Final 

Not Applicable 
Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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     Rs.  ‘000 

Assets 
Code Code Description 

Balance as 
per Board 
of Survey 

Report as at 
31.12.2022 

Balance as per 
Financial 
Position 

Report as at 
31.12.2022 

Yet to be 
Accounted 

Reporting 
Progress as 

a % 

9151 Building and Structures 2,672,475 2,672,475 -  

100% 

9152 Machinery and Equipment 631,481 631,481 -  

9153 Land 2,081,300 2,081,300 -  

9154 Intangible Assets 5,894,114 5,894,114 -  

9155 Biological Assets -  -  -  

9160 Work in Progress -  -  -  

9180 Lease Assets 73,520 73,520 -  
Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are the critical quantifiable indicators of progress of an 

organization toward the intended result which provide a focus for strategic and operational 

improvement, create an analytical basis for decision making and help to focus attention on what 

matters most. KPIs are used to measure the progress toward achieving the organization’s 

strategic goals. 

Inland Revenue Department engages in the duty of administration of specified taxes, where 

four unique indicators can be identified such as collection of revenue, conducting awareness 

programs, tax file opening and cost of collection. 

a) Collection of Revenue 

During the year, collection of revenue was performed by administrating Income Tax, 

Value Added Tax, Social Security Contribution Levy, Tax on Voluntary Disclosure, 

Betting and Gaming Levy, Share Transaction Levy, Migrating Tax and Remittance Fee. 

The original revenue target received by IRD for the year was Rs. 1,067,807 million and 

it was revised to Rs. 1,131,011.5 million. IRD has achieved 93.55% of the revenue 

target despite policy changes not being implemented within expected time frame. 

b) Conducting Awareness Programs 

IRD has taken wide range of actions to improve the awareness of its stakeholders. 

Accordingly, awareness programs had been launched to inform them regarding policy 

changes, return filing, etc. Most of the programs were conducted via online as more 

people can be involved. Online programs were helped to minimize the cost of 

conducting awareness programs. Also, the taxpayer who cannot participate physically 

were able to join the programs effectively. 

 

c) Tax File Opening 

Widening of tax base is essential to increase the tax revenue. Accordingly, VAT 

registration threshold was reduced from Rs. 300 million to Rs. 80 million per annum. 

During the year, the proposal of reducing IIT registration threshold was presented by 

the government with the aim of increasing the Income Tax base. Although the 

government intended to change the IIT registration threshold from Rs. 3 million to Rs. 

1.2 million per annum, it was implemented from January 01, 2023. However, IRD had 

registered 3,818 new taxpayers under IT during the year. 
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a) Cost of Collection 

Minimization of cost of tax collection should be an important objective of budgetary 

policy. Cost of collection is categorized in to capital expenditure and recurrent 

expenditure. The capital expenditure of the IRD was restricted on notification by the 

government to carry out essential expenditure only. However, the expenditure for the 

RAMIS project was Rs. 4.5 billion due to the payment made for the RAMIS 2.0. Inland 

Revenue Department had been able to keep the cost of collection at minimum level, as 

approximately 82 cents for a hundred rupee for the year 2022. (The decided benchmark 

for the cost of collection of IRD is Rs. 1/- per Rs. 100/-) 

 

Output as a percentage of the identified Key Performance Indicators shows in Table 4.1. 

 
Table 4.1: Performance Indicators of the Year 2022 

Specific Indicators 
Actual output as a percentage (%) of the expected output 

100%-90% 75%-89% 50%-74% 
Collection of Revenue 93.62%     
Conducting Awareness Programs 100%    
Tax File Opening 153%     
Cost of Collection 100%   
Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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As introduced by the United Nations at the year 2015, the Sustainable Development Goals 

also known as the Global Goals were adopted by all the United Nations States in 2015 in 

order to eradicate the poverty, protect the planet as well as ensure that all the people enjoy 

peace and prosperity by 2030 through a balanced social, economic and environmental 

sustainability. In order to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals in every context, the 

creativity, knowhow, technology and financial resources are very essential. 

In terms of the Sustainable Development Goals Act, No. 19 of 2017, all the administrative 

entities of the government should maintain the Sustainable Development Goals. In case of 

preparing the Action Plan of the IRD, these Sustainable Development Goals were considered. 

Targeted Sustainable Development Goals for the year can be shown as the Table 5.1. 

 
Table 5.1: Activities of the IRD Based on the Sustainable Development Goals 

Goal/ Objective Targets Indicators of the 
achievement 

Progress of the 
achievement to date 

(%) 

0-49 50-
74 

75-
100 

Ensure healthy lives 
and promote well-
being for all at all ages 

To give all three COVID 
vaccines to the all officers of the 
Department by the end of the 
year  

Percentage of the 
vaccinated officers 
from all the officers of 
the Department  

   

Ensure inclusive and 
equitable quality 
education and promote 
lifelong learning 
opportunities for all 
 

To hold three attempts of the 
departmental examination 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Passed percentage of 
the examinations held 
 
Number of 
examinations held 
 
Percentage of passed 
officers 

   

To organize capacity building 
programs (90 officers in three 
groups) 

Number of positive 
feedbacks of the 
participants 
 
No. of programs held 

Directing all the officers of the 
Department for Post Graduate 
Degrees 

Percentage of the 
officers with Post 
Graduate degrees from 
all the officers of the 
Department 
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Achieve gender 
equality and empower 
all woman and girls 

Considering gender equality in 
the recruitments and promotions 

Percentage of women in 
the new recruitments 
 

   

Promote sustained, 
inclusive and 
sustainable economic 
growth, full and 
productive 
employment and 
decent work for all 

Recruiting for the vacancies of 
the IRD service 
 

No. of officers recruited    

Recruiting for the vacancies for 
other services 

Build resilient 
infrastructure, 
promote inclusive and 
sustainable 
industrialization and 
foster innovation 

Repairing and maintaining the 
buildings as required  

No. of buildings 
repaired and maintained 
 
Repairing and 
maintenance expenses 
 

   

Constructing new buildings No. of new buildings 
constructed 

Updating RAMIS according to 
the Inland Revenue Act, No. 24 
of 2017 

RAMIS 2.0 

Reduce inequality 
within and among 
countries 

Entering in to agreements of 
preventing double taxation 

No. of agreements that 
prevent double taxation 

   

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT 73

06
CHAPTER

Human Resource
Profile



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT74



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2022
INLAND REVENUE DEPARTMENT 75

75 
 

 
The following table shows the approved cadre of the Department, the number in post and the 

vacancies, as at December 31, 2022. 

Table 6.1: Cadre as at 31.12.2022 

Position Approved 
Cadre 

Numbers in 
Post Vacancies 

Inland Revenue Service 1,229 981 248 
Commissioner General 1 1 0 
Deputy Commissioner General    9 6 3 

Senior Commissioner    22 6 16 

Commissioner    90 43 47 
 Senior Deputy Commissioner / Deputy Commissioner / 
Assistant Commissioner 1,107 925 182 

Other Services 1,639 1,450 189 
Combined Services 1,448 1,308 140 
Chief Finance Officer 1 1 0 
Chief Accountant 1 1 0 
Internal Auditor 1 1 0 
Director (Administration) 1 1 0 
Accountant 5 5 0 
Administrative Officer 3 3 0 
Translator 9 9 0 
Development Officer 7 7 0 
Librarian  1 1 0 
Assistant Librarian 1 1 0 
 Management Service Officer 925 847 78 
Driver 96 84 12 
KKS 397 347 50 
ICT Service 170 128 42 
Director (ICT)  2 2 0 
Deputy Director / Assistant Director (ICT) 16 4 12 
Officer (ICT)    47 19 28 
Assistant (ICT)   105 103 2 
Departmental service 20 14 6 
Technical Officer 2 0 2 
Transport Officer 1 1 0 
Receptionist 4 3 1 
Research Associate 10 9 1 

Building Supervisor 1 0 1 

Carpenter 1 1 0 
Cercit Banglow Keeper  1 0 1 
Other 1 0 1 
Engineer 1 0 1 
Total 2,868 2,431 437 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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Table 6.2: Cadre Summary as at 31.12.2022 

  Approved Cadre Existing Cadre Vacancies 

Senior 1,257 996 261 

Tertiary 60 32 28 

Secondary 1,055 971 84 

Primary 496 432 64 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 

Approved cadre of the Inland Revenue Department consists of four levels as the Table 6.2. 

Senior level officers include Commissioner General, 09 Deputy Commissioners General, 22 

Senior Commissioners, 90 Commissioners, Senior Deputy Commissioners, Deputy 

Commissioners and Assistant Commissioners and they are directly involving the tax 

administration functions. 261 vacancies have been generated as the most senior officers are 

involving acting positions and the Public Service Commission (PSC) has not issued 

confirmation letters for them. Also, the government policy of halting new recruitments to the 

public service has increased the number of vacancies in the IRD. 182 SDC/DC/AC vacancies 

are on 31.12.2022 and the recruitment examination was held in March 2022.  

28 vacancies had been generated in the tertiary level which consists of ICT Officers. There are 

84 secondary level vacancies as at 31.12.2022 for Technical Officers, Information Technology 

Assistants and Public Management Assistants. Requirements have been made to the Public 

Administration to fill the vacancies.  

 
Table 6.3: Human Resource Development Programs Conducted in Year 2022 

N
o Name of the 

Programme 

N
o.

 o
f S

ta
ff

 
T

ra
in

ed
 Duration of 

the 
Programme 

Total Investment 
(Rs. '000) 

N
am

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

(A
br

oa
d/

Lo
c

al
) Output 

From To Local  Foreign 

1 

Master of Arts 
(Mass 

Communicatio
n) -   

 University of 
Kelaniya 

27 22-
Jan 

22-
Dec  2,767,500  

  Local 

This program was 
helpful to develop 
research skills through 
producing practical and 
theoretical knowledge 
expansion, create media 
and communication 
practitioners who can 
take contemporary 
challenges, provide 
productive 
communication 
strategies.  

8 22-
Mar 

23-
Feb     820,000 

2 22-
Apr 

23-
Mar 

         
205,000 
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2 

Master of Arts 
(Economics) -  
 University of 

Kelaniya 

11 Jan-
22 

Dec-
22 1,347,500 

  
  Local 

This program consists of 
theoretical background of 
economics with the 
applications. It helps to 
improve the working 
capacity of officers as 
IRD officers have to 
coordinate taxpayers 
with the knowledge of 
economic affairs. 

2 Mar-
22 

Feb-
23 

         
245,000  

3 

Master of Arts 
(Applied 

Economics) - 
University of 
Peradeniya 

1 Jan-
22 

Dec-
22 98,000   Local 

 This program gives the 
ability to apply 
theoretical knowledge 
and analytical skills to 
describe economic 
problems and issues, 
their causes and find 
solutions for the officers.  

4 

Master of Arts 
(Economics) -  
 University of 

Ruhuna 

4 Apr-
22 

Mar-
23 393,200   Local 

 This program consists of 
theoretical background of 
economics with the 
applications. It helps to 
improve the working 
capacity of officers as 
IRD officers have to 
coordinate taxpayers 
with the knowledge of 
economic affairs. 

5 
Master of 

Information 
Technology 

2 Jul-22 24-
Jun 371,000   Local 

 This improves the 
knowledge of current and 
emerging developments 
in IT as well as in-depth 
knowledge in advanced 
topics on information 
technology to master the 
challenges of an 
information driven 
economy. 

6 
Master of 
Business 

Administration 
1 Mar-

22 
Feb-
23 500,000   Local 

 It enhances the ability of 
transferring the 
knowledge and skills of 
officers to real world 
business activities. Also’ 
it improves the 
performance and 
professionalism of 
officers in IRD. 

7 
Diploma in 
Professional 

English 
1 Mar-

22 
Feb-
23 80,000   Local 

 This helped to improve 
both oral and written 
competency of staff 
grade officers and those 
who have acquired basic 
language skills and 
officer can deliver his 
service confidently and 
efficiently. 

8 
Computer 

Hardware with 
Network 

1 Jan-
22 

22-
Jun 34,050   Local 

It gives the knowledge 
on computer hardware 
and networking to 
identify the computer 
related issues and 
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networking issues in the 
department. 

9 

Professional 
development 

of office 
assistants and 
drivers for a 
quality work 
environment 

2 One Day 
17.10.2022 10,000   Local 

 This program enhances 
the quality of the duty of 
the office assistants and 
drivers. Finally, it helps 
to create a good working 
environment in the 
department.  

10 

Automated 
maintenance 
of books of 

accounts 

2 27.10.
2022 

28.10.
2022 15,000   Local 

 It enhances the quality 
of maintenance of books 
of accounts. 

11 

Supply & 
Installation of 
virtualization 

Server 
Infrastructure 

for IRD - 
Singapore 

6 17.01.
2022 

21.01.
2022   351,271 Abroad 

The virtual network 
components have been 
implemented in line with 
existing architecture and 
it can be further 
enhanced using the 
knowledge gained. 

12 

Executive 
Program for 

Senior 
Officers - 
Pakistan 

1 30.03.
2022 

10.04.
2022   157,960 Abroad 

Enhanced international 
practices with regards to 
functions of tax 
collection, tax 
administration skills of 
the officers 

13 

Supply & 
Installation of 
Perimeter and 
inner firewalls 
for IRD - India 

3 22.03.
2022 

27.03.
2022   140,904 Abroad 

Maintaining and 
controlling of the 
Network security 
measures according to 
the globally accepted 
standards. 

14 

Regional 
Consultation 

on 
International 
Tax matters 

for Asia 
Pacific - 

Philippines 

2 05.12.
2022 

06.12.
2022   123,201 Abroad 

Analysis the impact of 
two pillar solution to Sri 
Lanka and to know the 
recent development of 
the said project as well. 

15 

Tax 
administration 

Diagnostic 
Assessment 
(TADAT) 

Accreditation - 
India 

6 12.12.
2022 

16.12.
2022   646,788 Abroad 

The experience gained, 
and knowledge gathered 
at the course is useful to 
apply in future 
particularly in updating 
of Inland Revenue 
Systems. 

Source: Inland Revenue Department 
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No. Applicable Requirement 

Compliance 
Status 

(Complied /Not 
Complied) 

Brief 
explanation 

for Non-
Compliance 

Corrective 
actions 

proposed to 
avoid non-

compliance in 
future 

1 
The following financial 
statements/ accounts have been 
submitted on due date 

 
    

1.1 Annual Financial statements Complied     

1.2 Advance to public officers 
account Complied 

   

1.3 
Trading and Manufacturing 
Advance Accounts (Commercial 
Advance Accounts) 

Not Applicable 

1.4 Stores Advance Accounts Not Applicable 
1.5 Special Advance Accounts Not Applicable 
1.6 Others Complied     

2 Maintenance of books and 
registers (FR445) 

 
    

2.1 

Fixed assets register has been 
maintained and update in terms 
of Public Administration circular 
267/2018 

Complied 

    

2.2 
Personal emoluments register/ 
Personal emoluments cards have 
been maintained and update 

Complied 
    

2.3 Register of Audit Queries has 
been maintained and update Complied 

    

2.4 Register of Internal Audit reports 
has been maintained and update Complied 

    

2.5 

All the monthly account 
summaries (CIGAS) are 
prepared and submitted to the 
Treasury on due date 

Complied 

    

2.6 
Register for cheques and money 
orders has been maintained and 
update 

Complied 
    

2.7 Inventory register has been 
maintained and update Complied 

    

2.8 Stocks Register has been 
maintained and update Complied     

2.9 Register of Losses has been 
maintained and update Complied     

2.10 Commitment Register has been 
maintained and update Complied 
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2.11 
Register of Counterfoil Books 
(GA-N20) has been maintained 
and update 

Complied 
    

3 Delegation of functions for 
financial control (FR 135) 

 
    

3.1 The Financial authority has been 
delegated within the institute Complied 

    

3.2 

The delegation of financial 
authority has been 
communicated within the 
institute 

Complied 

    

3.3 

The authority has been delegated 
in such manner so as to pass 
each transaction through two or 
more officers 

Complied 

    

3.4 

The controls have been adhered 
to by the accountants in terms of 
State Account Circular 171/2004 
dated 11.05.2014 in using the 
Government Payroll Software 
Package 

Complied 

    
4 Preparation of Annual Plans      

4.1 The annual action plan has been 
prepared Complied 

    

4.2 The annual procurement plan has 
been prepared Complied 

    

4.3 The annual Internal Audit plan 
has been prepared Complied 

    

4.4 
The annual estimate has been 
prepared and submitted to the 
NBD on due date 

Complied 
    

4.5 
The annual cash flow has been 
submitted to the Treasury 
Operations Department on time 

Complied 
    

5 Audit Quires      

5.1 
All the audit queries have been 
replied within the specified time 
by the Auditor General 

Complied  . 

6 Internal Audit      

6.1 

The internal audit plan has been 
prepared at the beginning of the 
year after consulting the Auditor 
General in terms of Financial 
Regulation 134(2) DMA/ 1-2019 

Complied 

    

6.2 
All the internal audit reports 
have been replied within one 
month 

Complied   
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6.3 

Copies of the internal audit 
reports has been submitted to the 
Management Audit Department 
in terms of Sub-section 40(4) of 
the National Audit Act No. 19 of 
2018 

Complied 

    

6.4 

All the copies of internal audit 
reports have been submitted to 
the Auditor General in terms of 
Financial Registration 134(3) 

Complied 

    

7 Audit and Management 
Committee 

 
    

7.1 

Minimum 04 meetings of the 
Audit and Management 
Committee has been held during 
the year as per the DMA 
Circular 1-2019 

Complied 

  
8 Asset Management      

8.1 

The information about purchases 
of assets and disposals was 
submitted to the Comptroller 
General's Office in terms of 
Paragraph 07 of the Asset 
Management Circular No. 
01/2017 

Complied 

    

8.2 

A suitable liaison officer was 
appointed to coordinate the 
implementation of the provisions 
of the circular and details of the 
nominated officer was sent to the 
Comptroller General's Office in 
terms of paragraph 13 of the 
aforesaid circular 

Complied 

    

8.3 

The board of survey was 
conducted and the relevant 
reports submitted to the Auditor 
General on due date in terms of 
Public Finance circular No. 
05/2016 

Complied    

8.4 

The excesses and deficits that 
were disclosed through the board 
of survey and other relating 
recommendations, actions were 
carried out during the period 
specified in the circular 

Complied   

8.5 
The disposal of condemn articles 
had been carried out in terms of 
FR 772 

Complied    

9 Vehicle Management      
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9.1 

The daily running charts and 
monthly summaries of the pool 
vehicles had been prepared and 
submitted to the Auditor General 
on due date 

Complied   

9.2 

The condemned vehicles had 
been disposed of within a period 
of less than 6 months after 
condemning 

Complied 

    

9.3 The vehicle logbooks had been 
maintained an updated Complied     

9.4 

The action has been taken in 
terms of FR. 103,104 109 and 
110 with regard to every vehicle 
accident 

Complied 

    

9.5 

The fuel consumption of 
vehicles has been re-tested in 
terms of the provisions of 
paragraph 3.1 of the Public 
Administration Circular No. 
30/2016 of 29.12.2016 

Complied 

 

 

9.6 

The absolute ownership of the 
leased vehicle log books has 
been transferred after the lease 
term 

Complied 

    

10 Management of Bank 
Accounts 

 
    

10.1 

The bank reconciliation 
statements had been prepared, 
got certified and made ready for 
audit by the due date 

Complied 

    

10.2 
The dormant accounts that had 
existed in the year under review 
or since previous year settled 

Not Applicable 

10.3 

The action had been taken in 
terms of Financial Regulations 
regarding balances that had been 
disclosed through bank 
reconciliation statements and for 
which adjustments had to be 
made, and had those balances 
been settled within one month 

Complied 

    
11 Utilization of Provisions      

11.1 
The Provisions allocated had 
been spent without exceeding the 
limit 

Complied 
    

11.2 
The liabilities not exceeding the 
provisions that remained at the 
end of the year as per F.R. 94(1) 

Complied 
    

12 Advance to public officers 
account 
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12.1 The limits had been complied 
with Complied     

12.2 A time analysis had been carries 
out on the loans in arrears Complied     

12.3 The loan balances in arrears for 
over one year had been settled Complied    

13 General Deposit Account      

13.1 
The action had been taken as per 
F.R. 571 in relation to disposal 
of lapsed deposits 

Complied 
    

13.2 
The control register for general 
deposits had been updated and 
maintained 

Complied 
    

14 Imprest Account      

14.1 
The balance in the cash book at 
the end of year under review 
remitted to TOD 

Complied 
    

14.2 

The ad-hoc sub imprests issued 
as per F.R. 371 settled within 
one month from the completion 
of the task 

Complied 

    

14.3 
The ad-hoc sub imprests had 
been issued exceeding the limit 
approved as per FR. 371 

Complied 
    

14.4 
The balance of the imprest 
account had been reconciled 
with the Treasury books monthly 

Complied 
    

15 Revenue Account      

15.1 
The refunds from the revenue 
had been made in terms of the 
regulations 

Complied 
    

15.2 

The revenue collection had been 
directly credited to the revenue 
account without credited to the 
deposit account 

Complied 

    

15.3 
Returns of arrears of revenue 
forward to the Auditor General 
in terms of FR 176 

Complied 
    

16 Human Resource Management      

16.1 The staff had been paid within 
the approved cadre Complied     

16.2 All members of the staff have 
been issued a duty list in writing Complied 

    

16.3 
All reports have been submitted 
to MSD in terms of their circular 
No. 04/2017 dated 20.09.2017 

Complied 
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17 Provision of information to the 
public   

 
  

17.1 

An information officer has been 
appointed and a proper register 
of information is maintained and 
updated in terms of Right to 
Information Act and Regulation 

Complied 

  

 

17.2 

Information about the institution 
to the public have been provided 
by Website or alternative 
measures and has it been 
facilitated o appreciate/ 
allegation to public against the 
public authority by this Website 
or alternative measures 

Complied 

    

17.3 
Bi-Annual and Annual reports 
have been submitted as per 
section 08 and 10 of the RTI Act 

Complied 
    

18 Implementing citizens charter      

18.1 

A citizen’s charter/ Citizens 
client's charter has been 
formulated and implemented by 
the Institution in terms of the 
circular number 05/2008 and 
05/2018(1) of Ministry of Public 
Administration and Management 

Complied   

18.2 

A methodology has been devised 
by the Institution in order to 
monitor and assess the 
formulation and the 
implementation of Citizens 
Charter/ Citizens client's charter 
as per paragraph 2.3 of the 
circular 

Complied 

  

 

19 Preparation of the Human 
Resource Plan   

 
  

19.1 

A human resource plan has been 
prepared in terms of the format 
in Annexure 02 of Public 
Administration Circular No. 
02/2018 dated 24.01.2018. 

Complied   

19.2 

A minimum training opportunity 
of not less than 12 hours per year 
for each member of the staff has 
been ensured in the aforesaid 
Human Resource Plan 

Complied   

19.3 

Annual performance agreements 
have been signed for the entire 
staff based on the format in 
Annexure 01 of the aforesaid 
Circular 

Complied    
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19.4 

A senior officer was appointed 
and assigned the responsibility 
of preparing the human resource 
development plan, organizing 
capacity building programs and 
conducting skill development 
programs as per paragraph No. 
6.5 of the aforesaid Circular 

Complied 

  

 

20 Responses Audit Paras       

20.1 

The shortcomings pointed out in 
the audit paragraphs issued by 
the Auditor General for the 
previous years have been 
rectified 

Complied 
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